

Ahmed Mohamud

Working in a new era

Technology reshaping the very essence of work

Metropolia University of Applied Sciences
Bachelor of Business Administration
International Business and Logistics
Thesis
31.10.2021

Abstract

Author(s): Ahmed Mohamud
Title: New Era Management
Number of Pages: 42 pages + 1 appendix

Date: 31 October 2021

Degree: Bachelor of Business Administration
Degree Programme: International Business and Logistics
Specialisation option: Human Resource and Management
Instructor(s): Kevin McIntire, Senior Lecturer
Daryl Chapman, Senior Lecturer

baryr chapmany bemor bectarer

The sudden covid outbreak has created a disruption in the world. Lockdowns and fears of having staff off on sick leave while organizations decreased profitability due to the restrictions made organizations had to refigure the way we work and attend to schools.

The research in this thesis is based on the most relevant literature, from public government and academic sources, publications, blogs and articles, and scientific papers regarding WFH.

Due to the increased white-collar workers working through computers and having the possibilities and tools to work remotely it has become popular to prefer working from home.

It was found in this research that there are ways to improve remote working so the WFH could be implemented the best way possible.

Keywords: pandemic, remote work, WFH, cyber security, new normal

Contents

Glossary

1	Introduction		
2	Research question, methodoly and structure		
	2.1	Research question	2
	2.2	Methodology & Methods	2
	2.3	Research structure	3
3	Literature review		3
	3.1	Flexibility	4
	3.2	Cost reduction	5
	3.3	Productivity	6
	3.4	Mental Health	7
	3.5	Social Impact	9
	3.6	Cyber Security	10
	3.7	Culture	13
	3.8	Environmental	14
4	SWOT Analysis		16
	4.1	Strengths	16
	4.2	Weaknesses	18
	4.3	Opportunities	19
	4.4	Threats	21
	4.5	Cyber security	21
5	Result		22
6	Conclusion		23
7	References		25
	Appendices		42
	SWOT Analysis		42

Glossary

BYOD Bring Your Own Device

EU-27 The 27 European Union countries after the UK left the EU.

R&D Research and Development

WFH Work From Home

WFA Work From Anywhere

1 Introduction

Businesses have evolved from watching their employees every possible move to giving them the autonomy of managing the process to their best capability. This human-centric approach has shaped the way businesses led their human resource operations and our theories have changed to promote the potential of their human capital through motivating them to develop and investing in them. This achieved by making the work attractive and match the job market's expectations. We shifted from competing to get a job to companies competing to attract the best talent in the market. Now while companies were aiming to attract the best talent and managed to optimize their profitability, they forgot to enhance operations with tools that were at their disposal – technological capabilities that promotes more independence.

The Covid pandemic was the needed disruption that changed the whole equilibrium. People were not safe and therefore WFH experimentation had to be implemented so companies could operate without jeopardizing their employee's safety and increasing the possible covid infection risk. The mass hysteria and outbreak lead to the change that many companies would not have wanted to implement although remote working, also known as telecommuting, could have been implemented on the same scale as we see it being today. Moreover, in this research, we will discuss the main elements, disadvantages, and advantages, and the changes the WFH has brought due to the pandemic. pandemic

2 Research question, methodoly and structure

2.1 Research question

This sudden change in the way we live has sparked an interest to research remote work and how it changes the work and managing Human Resources. Because it is new to people and there are not many outcomes although we have been living in the pandemic for a couple of years already it has to lead to think that maybe this is the pivotal point where we may not go back to the old normal and accustom to the "new normal". Therefore, in this research paper we are finding out the answer to my thesis question which is.

"Is 'work from home' here to stay?"

2.2 Methodology & Methods

The research method used in this research is qualitative data analysis, more specifically secondary data analysis. Bell, Bryman, and Harley (2019) have stated in their book that qualitative research is a research strategy that usually emphasizes words rather than numbers in the collection and analysis of data. Qualitative research is a method that's good at answering the 'why', 'what' or 'how' questions (Lacey & Luff, 2009). In this research, the analysis of qualitative secondary data has been the only way to collect data that could answer the research question. In addition to that secondary data could be used to justify another argument. According to Hinds (1997), secondary analysis of qualitative data is the use of existing data to find answers to research questions that differ from the questions asked in the original research. Due to the circumstances of the pandemic and companies upholding safety measures to control the spread of the virus is why primary data was not utilized in this research.

2.3 Research structure

This research paper's structure flows in a manner where we discuss the effects the covid pandemic had in changing the way we work. Then it progresses to point out the main elements of the remote work and what differences it has compared to the way of work in the pre-covid time in further detail. These discussed elements include the added flexibility of WFH, cost reduction, productivity, work-life balance, cyber security, mental health impacts, social issues, organizational culture, and environmental effects. After the literature review, the qualitative data from the literature review will be thoroughly analyzed and reviewed with a framework. After the analysis, the research's result will be stated and after a holistic recapitulation, a conclusion will be made.

3 Literature review

On the 11th of March 2020, the World Health Organization (WHO) categorized the coronavirus outbreak as a pandemic and instructed governments around the world to prepare for considerable extreme measures such as the national lockdowns that made the world slow down. Compared to how we used to work then, in the past year work from home has been a highly implemented way of working due to the SARS-CoV-2 dispersion (Who. int, 2020). Ever since the WHO's announcement, we have been living in unprecedented times. Everything changed. Countries went into lockdowns; restrictions were set to the extent where people felt that their human rights were being ripped. Social distancing and taking many precautions just to avoid being infected became the norm. The market took a significant blow, panic triggered by the economic aftereffect and anxiety led to a stock market crash because people liquidated their savings, and safety was not assured at work (Frazier, 2021). Companies had to adjust and therefore they started to implement the work from home (WFH) also known as work from anywhere (WFA) as a way of working for the time of the pandemic. "Work from home (WFH) is where the individuals can do their job from home through massive use of digital platforms" (Kaushik & Guleria 2020: 4). Work from home or also known as remote working has been an opportunity that many companies avoided exploring due to the employee being as its name states attending remotely. Due to the pandemic companies had to adjust, and significant changes had to be implemented so the governments of different countries could turn around the situation and control the outbreak. The mass implementation of WFH and online education was an opportunity that was not explored on such a large scale which led people to oppose the new way of working or attending classes digitally. Many loved the flexibility, cost reduction gains, and the time savings it brought to the people but there were and still are many that oppose it. It has brought up many problems regarding work-life balance, mental health, and many other social issues. Some say that the C-19 has brought temporary changes to the world, but many have accepted it as the new normal or even as a "life after the pandemic". In this research paper, we explore the opportunities and challenges WFH has brought to the companies and their workforce and most importantly if WFH is here to stay.

3.1 Flexibility

The flexibility that WFH could bring was not a surprise. Even before the C-19 outbreak many utilized and considered the flexibility of remote work as one of the many good reasons for exploring the opportunities this new way of working could bring. Research conducted by CIPD also proved these assumptions to be true and in their research, they found that the agility of WFH brought many benefits such as having more time to get work done and reduced travel (Stone & Horan & Flaxman, 2018). In another study, Mufid claims that the gained greater flexibility that was allowed due to the C-19 gave the teachers in Indonesian an opportunity to make their working environment as comfortable as they wanted. The teachers were able to work anywhere from home, from their bed, kitchen, living room, or maybe even from their patio. It enabled the freedom of making a new atmosphere that suited an individual's comfort level (Mufid, 2020).

Although the WFH way of working was a new thing for many, there were many people that used to work part or a significant amount of their working hours remotely. The European Commission has stated that more than 40% of workers in IT and other communication services were already working from home regularly or at least with some frequency in 2018 in the EU-27 (European Commission n.d.). In addition to the previous research, research led by Su (2020) has revealed that 39% of the jobs can be fulfilled

from a home office (Alon et al., 2020). This brings us to the question, have there been any jobs that have been done remotely even before the pandemic.

Based on the found research we can safely say that the implementation of the WFH concept was not impossible, it just needed the right time, a disruption in the market that leads to the instigation to create a new approach in working. Because companies were adjusted to the same old ways of practicing the business this disruption was inevitable so people could innovate new solutions and thus companies could adjust and create new opportunities for growth. Now when the pandemic has changed the way we work and forced companies to take the leap of faith with remote work, it could bring a positive impact to the companies through the employees and hence to the overall quality of life. All that the companies would need is to reconstruct the whole way of practicing the business so it could facilitate the digital space even better. The WFH way of working gave people the opportunity of having more free time and the flexibility of managing that time and this is a way for companies to create new ways of enhancing their businesses through increased employee work satisfaction.

3.2 Cost reduction

From the employee's side, the implementation of working from the home way of working has also brought opportunities to cut costs that could have not been able to be done before. As a worker, we have all always had a fixed workplace, an office that we had to get to so we could earn our living. The effort going to an office always led to using valuable time and money to travel to the office just to be stuck in traffic, but not anymore. Ever since we shifted to working from our home offices, we managed to cut the time, we had to always invest in traveling to our workplace and back. The pandemic did not just allow us the opportunity to save time but also everything that we used to get from home to work, such as our transportation costs like petrol or public transportation tickets. The opportunity for a cost reduction does not go one way but there are cost-cutting opportunities on the employer's side as well. According to Gartner (2020), if WFH were to be set as a permanent way of working, it could add-on to the

cost-cutting plans estimates set by the CFOs. In addition to that Gartner's CFO survey also revealed, 20% of the respondents argued that they have capitulated on-premises technology investments, with an added 12% wanting to do as such. Also, an extra 13% of respondents noted they had made cost reductions in real estate expenses in the past, with another 9% devising to make similar moves in the coming months (Lavelle, 2020). This has created an opportunity for companies to invest the cash that was tied in offices and its utilities to the research and development of WFH for example by enhancing digital infrastructure so they could support remote work.

3.3 Productivity

The discussion of WFH concepts productivity is like the two sides of a coin, some have contradictory opinions when it comes to productivity while working at home and some consider and argue it to be an obvious increase. Now referring to facts, in research done by Dingel and Neiman it has been argued that 37% of jobs in the US could be in the form of work from home altogether (Gottlieb et al., 2021). The increased implementation of the WFH concept could increase efficiency. Nicholas Bloom mentions in his article that through WFH there's an expected 33% increase in efficiency as a result of a calmer climate, which makes it easier to handle calls. He also found that working from home offices led to 13.5% more calls compared to a person working in an actual company office (Bloom, 2014).

Remote work has also been proven to bring clear benefits to employees' work-life balance, allowing them to have the flexibility to adapt their working time to private and family-related needs (Jay, 2020). Nonetheless, WFH is not all rays of sunshine and rainbows. A recent study led by Eurofound (2020) points out that the working conditions of their employees in remote work settlements might really negatively affect their performance, health, and work-life balance. Working from home allows workers to execute tasks while being sick and this could be adverse to their health and reduce their performance. The intense use of information and communication technologies could increase remote workers' vulnerability to health risks such as anxiety, absenteeism,

stress, fatigue, burnout, eyestrain, and headaches. When it comes to work-life balance the autonomy of the work can also lead to an increment of work due to the possible competition led by self-management or mechanisms enforcing performance (Eurofound, 2020).

In addition to that, in that same study, Eurofound states that.

"Generally, those who do telework and ICT-based mobile work more often (notably the highly mobile workers) experience more negative effects on their work-life balance. For example, they miss out on or neglect family activities because work interferes with their personal life. This has been reported in Finland, Germany, the Netherlands, Sweden and the United Kingdom (Eurofound and the ILO, 2017)."

Reflecting on these researches we can safely argue that increased productivity could be considered as a win-win situation from the employees' and employers' points of view. With WFH companies could optimize results and the added value that is generated through increased productivity while giving more freedom, autonomy, and responsibility of their work to their employees

3.4 Mental Health

Ever since the covid-19 pandemic forced the employees and students to work remotely, its impact on one's mental health has been a hot topic. Referring to studies conducted by Bloom (2014) and Fonner & Roloff (2010) home workers reported improved work satisfaction, which among others lead to significantly decreased attrition levels. This was before the forced implementation of the WFH way of working, social distancing, and isolation caused by the fear of getting infected. In the past three years, many studies showed different results and pointed out many other problems that could have been foreseen due to the changes regarding our social behaviour. According to Berstein (2020), mental wellbeing has received compelling publicity since lockdown but there is emerging evidence that people are settling into the routine of remote working and perceiving a downturn in their stressors.

Quarantine has become a commonly used word, especially in the past two years. The isolation and constantly getting into a quarantine have affected people's mental health. According to a study conducted by Song & Wong, people in China with higher positions tend to have more duties, especially in the pandemic that could overload them due to the added effort at work. It correlated with a decrease in job satisfaction. Other negative effects on employees' mental health and work attitudes during the pandemic are caused by the worry regarding an existing unemployment risk (Song et al., 2020). Furthermore, the longer a person is held in quarantine, the impaired the mental health outcomes are, specifically symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), avoidance behaviour, and anger, maybe detected (Brooks et al., 2020). Having a loved one or a family member in a quarantine directly affects our mental health as well due to the concerns one would have regarding their loved one's health and recovery.

There have also been suggested ways to efficiently tackle these mental health problems. Psychological ill-health can be prevented or even improved by interventions that combine personal stress management with organizational efforts to increase participation in decision-making and problem-solving. Companies could also increase social support and improve their organizational communication (JOURNAL OF MANAGEMENT STUDIES AND ACADEMIC RESEARCH A Big Salute to CORONA WARRIORS, 2021). These facts demonstrate that the mental health issues stemmed from the effects of the pandemic and thus does not have any correlation with the work from home way of working. We can safely say that WFH gave people a sense of safety and assurance to earn their living without risking themselves. The WFH concept has positively affected employee's mental health and work-life balance. As indicated by McKinsey's research, 80% of individuals mentioned that they enjoyed WFH. 41% felt they were more productive than they had been previously (Brodie Boland et al., 2020). One of the significant problems that the WFH could have on people would be the effects of working from home offices and the risks that those working from outside the office can become socially isolated (Charlampous et al., 2019).

3.5 Social Impact

The pandemic has changed the world as we knew it and made us all adapt to a new social construct with restrictions. Adapting to the new social dynamics where people do not meet each other casually but more cautiously has become the norm. Remote working has been a long-discussed topic even before COVID, and even then, the preconception and significant differing in opinions of its implementation was the reason why many companies did not take any chances with it.

Today the situation is different, people are more than willing to work remotely. A study conducted by Dubey & Tripathi found that 73% had a positive approach towards WFH whereas 23% had a negative approach. Also, while 60% of people displayed emotions of trust, joy, and anticipation for WFH, some displayed emotions of anger, disgust, fear, and sadness. All in all, the study concluded that the WFH activities had a positive impression worldwide. (Dubey & Tripathi, 2020). Lenovo found in their global research results that 74% of the respondents from India agreed to be more willing to work from home post-pandemic than they were before it. This is because 91% have increased the use of laptops, 95% said that they became their own IT person, and 43% believe that companies should invest more in technology training to enhance WFH opportunities (BW Online Bureau, 2020). Based on the evidence the pandemic has sparked a new preference regarding post covid work, where people do not prefer to be physically present anymore. Although the post covid phase seems promising it does not solve the social issues we have been encountering and face still to this day. The issue we have faced is related to the stigmatization of infected people. In a comparison of healthcare workers quarantined versus those that were not quarantined, quarantined people were significantly more likely to report stigmatization and rejection by people in their local neighbourhoods. These people suggest that there is stigma specifically surrounding people who had been quarantined. Participants in multiple studies suggested that others were treating them differently in the forms of avoiding them, withdrawing social invitations, treating them with suspicion and fear, and making critical comments (Brooks et al., 2020). This alone shows that people that were never infected are segregating themselves regardless of the infected, even if they were healed. This alone will make a disruption on the way we socialize alongside the implementation of remote working. This could possibly cause an outcome where people will not gather up in big groups anymore.

There's also a social advantage when it comes to workplace inclusion. For example, working from home could be perceived as an opportunity to include individuals that are in critical periods of time or physically disabled people. This would have a positive impact on social inclusion also with parents with young children, someone recovering from an accident, women during pregnancy, etc.) (Baruch, 2000; Illegems, Verbeke and S'Jegers, 2001).

Corporate Social Responsibility has been in a significant spotlight where it has changed from a hot topic to an essential part of practicing business. Heyward, 2020 states that a company's commitment to improving the world is a way to attract and retain more talent. If we reflect on previous literature, there have been identified values like trust, shared meanings, the capacity of self-organization, the capacity of learning, diversity, and inclusion as a fundamental part of our social system regarding sustainable development (Missimer, Robèrt, and Broman, 2017). Therefore, social sustainability has considered being connected to the quality of a company's relationships with its stakeholders. In this case, teleworking can be regarded as a significant spark that ignites an organizational transformation to a direction where an organization embodies the seventeen sustainable development and social sustainability goals that were set by the United Nations and achieves them as well (Gálvez, Tirado and Martínez, 2020).

3.6 Cyber Security

Remote work has brought many possibilities and benefits, but it has brought up many risks regarding cyber security. According to Lallie et al. (2020), there has been a 600 percent increment in phishing as an outcome of the pandemic that started in March 2020. A report based on a survey of 1,002 executives conducted in March and April 2020 has revealed that 91 percent of executives believed remote working during the pandemic has been the reason cyber-attacks on their organization increased. Eighty-five percent thought their company wasn't ready for a sudden shift to working from home (VMware

Carbon Black, 2020). Furthermore, based on third-party sources, Ahmad (2020) predicted that cybercrime damage would double during the pandemic due to an increase in phishing and ransomware attacks, insecure remote access to corporate networks, remote workers exposing login credentials, and confidential information being exposed to other people in remote workers' homes. In this case, it is natural to assume that cyber security was not considered thoroughly when the world was shifting to work from home experimentation during the outbreak. However, this was not the case; companies did try to fight such cyber security risks by utilizing VPNs to protect.

Based on the perspective of a university staff member in the United States, speculates on the cybersecurity implications of the COVID-19 pandemic. The sudden shift to remote working as a result of the pandemic, according to the paper, will put the scalability of computing at the 'edge' to the test. The paper cites some interesting but anecdotal evidence that certain aspects of the cybersecurity architecture, such as commercial VPNs, are unable to cope with the increased load. The paper also predicts an increase in vulnerability to phishing and DDoS (distributed denial of service) attacks as a result of the shift to remote working, as well as an increase in vulnerability due to remote workers' aptness to bypass security controls if they are impeding their productivity (Nicol, 2020). There is also another addition to the issue at hand Weil and Murugesan (2020) have also published speculative academic research regarding cyber security. The paper identified several vulnerabilities linked to the COVID-19 pandemic's massive increase in remote working. The vulnerabilities include Zoom-bombing and vulnerabilities associated with Bring Your Own Device (BYOD), unpatched routers, and open Wi-Fi that isn't protected by strong passwords. In addition to that Williams et al. (2019) also discovered a link between BYOD and remote working practices in the workplace and an increased risk of insider threat. It has also been found that there are cyber security risks linked with video conferencing such as man-in-the-middle attacks to listen in on a private discussion (Okereafor & Manny, 2020).

Remote working or telecommuting has been here even before the COVID outbreak but not in the same amplitude. Therefore, it has allowed us to reflect on previous literature that has not any ties to the pandemic derivative effects in remote work. Now referring to Awan et al. (2016) as it shows in the year the literature was written it was identified

that the opening of internet-facing ports and externally-hosted software, such as Sharepoint, on personal devices as 'hot-spots of cyber risk in the context of a university network in research conducted long before to the COVID-19 pandemic. The time of the pandemic has just proven more valid reasons for further discussion and research with added arguments on this topic. For instance, Garrote Sanchez et al. (2020) does not consider cyber security as a problem in WFH but instead highlight other factors like internet access quality, occupation type, and income level.

Healthcare services have also not been safe from these cyber-attacks. Lallie et al. (2020) describe a ransomware attack on a Czech hospital that put additional strain on health services that were already under severe strain as a result of the pandemic. To thwart or provide resilience to ransomware attacks, Malecki (2020) has recommended that business data should be backed up in the cloud in addition to local backups. Businesses should also implement VPN solutions and endpoint protection for homeworking, as well as provide support and training to employees to enable them to follow secure remote working practices, according to the article. User education on COVID-19-related phishing scams, robust mobile device management (MDM) policies, and pre-pandemic progress on cloud migration are all identified by Papagiannidis et al. (2020) as key factors that could help mitigate the increased potential for cyber-attacks associated with the COVID-19 pandemic. Research has found that 32% of organizations "had experienced a cyberattack as a direct result of an employee working outside of the businesses' security perimeter." (Chapman, 2020). This has led to conducting a solution-based approach to the problem at hand. Dwivedi et al. (2020) in their research has emphasized the importance of secure remote access via VPNs, user education, and cloud migration to protect organizations' data assets. It has been argued that as a result of the pandemic, there will be changes in the IT landscape, such as shifts to working increasingly more remotely and increase in employees' use of private networks and devices for work purposes, Moreover, it has been stated that these would result in increased localization of cybersecurity issues in some ways (Jones et al., 2020).

Continuing the previous argument; this new approach and the prolonged pandemic has created an opportunity for companies to react to this demand by innovating solutions that enhances cyber security and overall remote working conditions with systems and

many other remote work complementary products. For example, the need for distributed cybersecurity, as Jang-Jaccard and Nepal (2014) pointed out, arises not only from increased levels of remote working but also from the growing ineffectiveness of perimeter-based security in protecting internal networks. Some companies saw an opportunity in this cyber security risk and hence invested in their cloud services by creating ways to facilitate cyber security. A great example of such a pioneer is Google and their BeyondCorp architecture which is known nowadays as BeyondProd. BeyondProd is cloud-native security that eschews perimeter-based security. This perimeter security model has allowed Google employees to work securely from external networks without the need for a VPN (Beske et al. 2017; Osborn et al. 2016; Ward and Beyer 2014). Moreover, in a US government whitepaper, it was considered that cyber security lessons learned from the pandemic, will lead to the following recommendation: 'To survive future pandemics or catastrophic cyber-incidents, the nation needs secure, remote access to reliable cloud services (King and Gallagher, 2020).

3.7 Culture

The pandemic has not only affected the way we work but also the company culture. A new company culture had to be established so it could promote working from home in the best way possible. Matt Mullenweg, the Chief Executive of WordPress and the owner of Automattic predicts that the changes might also offer an opportunity to finally build a culture that allows work flexibility which has been long overdue. He also stated that the suggested work distribution is already in place in his company (Hern, 2020). This leads to finding a more permanent solution. Instigating reconstruction of the workplace and highly investing in company processes. Hern (2020) also predicts that remote working could also bring positive changes that offer an opportunity for many companies to finally build a culture that allows the long waited work flexibility.

3.8 Environmental

Environmental issues such as pollution have been one of the most significant hot topics of the past decade (Mekonnen et al., 2015). Energy consumption (Zaharia et al., 2019), and climate change (Lundgren and Kjellstrom, 2013), have created a highlight to the increasing need of adopting remote work. As we have been remotely working, studying, and heavily utilizing social media, even more, to connect with others in these exceptional times we have not only seen changes in our habits but had a positive effect on our environment. Ghisetti, Marzucchi, and Montresor, (2015) have found that remote working practices are closely connected to the green issues in the terms of environment, transportation, location, office space, the use of resources for contemporary organizations. On the basis of these considerations, remote working can be considered as an environmentally friendly innovation and an asset for sustainable development. This concept could be a form of innovation in a company's product, service, or business management that reduces environmental repercussion, a way of achieving improvements and sustainable goals through business processes transformation and hence overall way companies practice their business.

Through the implementation of the WFH way of working, we could safely expect positive environmental effects. Many of these benefits arise from an aftereffect that comes from transportation and commuting, and it results in transport savings that are commonly recognized as the significant and dominant factor when we are trying to identify positive environmental effects. These positive environmental effects include decreased traffic jams (Hopkins and McKay, 2018), decreased pressure on transportation infrastructure (Corpuz, 2014), decreased emission, pollution, and a decrease in work travel petrol consumption (Cerqueira et al., 2020; van Lier et al., 2014).

On the other hand, there have been identified complications in claiming and capturing the particular benefits. Researchers have also found that the benefits of teleworking are reliant on induced energy usage, commuting patterns (O'Brien and Yazdani Aliabadi, 2020), and the characteristics of the home space, office, and equipment usage (Kitou and Horvath, 2003). Transport mode shifts have also been the focus area in much other research. In these researches, they have been trying to identify how the type of

transportation, remote working locations changes, and their shifts are affecting the environment (van Lier et al., 2014). In addition to the previous statement according to a recent study conducted in Australia points out the fact that environmental benefits can be limited and may as well take a long time to be accomplished (Hopkins and McKay, 2018).

Remote working is not only an opportunity for the employee to play their part in a more sustainable future but also the employers. Remote working as previously stated gives the employer the opportunity to cut costs such as operational costs, office capital, and more specifically the employers' usage of energy. This comes in a form of shifting from high energy-consuming commercial buildings to more energy-efficient options like residential buildings which are identified to be a considerable cost saving. Due to the reduced need for an office building, construction companies are able to reduce their capital cost requirements for the offices. There would not be a need for proportional office expansions due to the gained benefit through working remotely from home. Instead in these cases, companies could enter into leases as an organization grows.

At this time given the circumstances we live in, the amount of actual research with reliable results is very scarce. Nevertheless, research done by Guerin points out reliable results relating to the environmental Impacts remote working has and he has stated in his analysis as follows.

"The analysis shows that the environmental benefits associated with teleworking become greater than non-teleworking when less than approximately 60 % of the workforce commutes to work by car, or an employee commutes less than 25 □ 30 km a day, or an employee uses more than 1039 − 1212 kW h per year of energy in the home office (Guerin, 2021)."

It is highly probable that there are more benefits to employees compared to employers.

Despite the multitude of literature on the topic (Baldasano, 2020; Beaunoyer et al., 2020; Dente and Hashimoto, 2020; Elld er, 2020; Kazekami, 2020; Magsamen-Conrad and Dillon, 2020), a precise conclusion cannot be made about whether the benefits are linked with remote work dominate the costs (O'Brien and Yazdani Aliabadi, 2020). Nonetheless, the literature presents important data that could be utilized or adapted to produce

applicable assumptions and concepts. They also feature energy, travel, and equipment usage and commercial office (non-remote working) and residential home office (remote working) characteristics to be considered as including key variables. It also points out that the appropriate attention needs to be given to the induced or rebound effects that are linked with remote working (Graizbord, 2015; O'Brien and Yazdani Aliabadi, 2020; Rietveld, 2011), presuming the need for specific circumstances for a specific organization to further investigate where there are gains, and how valuable they may be.

4 SWOT Analysis

In this paper, we are utilizing a SWOT analysis that was created by Albert S. Humphrey to assess the advantages and disadvantages of the work from home concept. We will be assessing what remote working provides compared to work in an office. This analysis aims to discover the benefits and drawbacks remote work (WFH) brings to employers and employees both respectively.

SWOT (Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and Threats) is a tool used to explore areas of growth and change, which can help organizations to craft a direction. (Thomas, 2019). SWOT's Strengths and Weaknesses are considered as internal factors and Opportunities, and Threats as external factors. In this paper, we will be collecting all the facts and visualizing the pros and cons in one table which then helps to see the balance between the positives and negatives.

4.1 Strengths

When it comes to the strengths which the 'Work from Home' working model has to offer to companies based on it alone it shows how many great opportunities companies would miss out on if this model were to be forgotten at the post-covid time. As it was pointed out in the literature review there were many positive effects from work flexibility, cost reduction, productivity, diversity, and inclusion to the environmental impact of the work.

As I previously listed, the literature review pointed out that many benefits for the employers and employees could be reaped out of this way of working.

One of the most significant opportunities that the WFH brought during the forced implementation of WFH was the flexibility of your work and being able to save more time. During the pandemic, people had the opportunity and the responsibility to manage and optimize their time by releasing the time invested in commuting for example (Stone & Horan & Flaxman, 2018). Workers had the opportunity to sleep in and the day ended after one has closed their laptop. This way of working freed the time tied to commuting before and after work and saved everybody from the one thing everybody hates: traffic jams. Remote working also allows working from any place at your house and makes the home office atmosphere as comfortable as possible (Mufid, 2020).

Now when the time tied in traveling to work and back is saved, people could allocate this time to their own life and hence have an even better work-life balance and overall better quality of life. People were able to work in a more flexible manner where work became part of their life and not vice versa. Companies could promote families by allowing them to e.g., Take their kids to daycare or school and come back home to work during the time and be in their kid's life the best ways (Jay, 2020; Illegems, Verbeke and S'Jegers, 2001; Baruch, 2000). This promotes the company's unity and sense of belonging and will decrease costs a lot for the employee.

The 'Work from Home' way of working has brought many opportunities for the workforce and most importantly for their employers. As it has been found out in a few pieces of research that were pointed out in the literature review, employers now have an opportunity to reduce the money tied in fixed costs such as offices and their utilities and from there decrease future investments (Lavelle, 2020).

The pandemic forced companies to adapt and through the WFH experimentation companies have found an opportunity and a way to increase efficiency (Bloom,2014; Fonner & Roloff, 2010). Due to the experimentation, people experienced the advantages and disadvantages of WFH first-hand. It was found that they enjoyed the positive changes remote work has had in their lives and thus it has been found as an increasing factor in work satisfaction (Brodie Boland et al., 2020).

One of the significant benefits that the world has witnessed ever since the WFH implementation was the positive environmental effects it has had. The most significant positive effects it has brought were decreased traffic jams, decreased pressure on transportation infrastructure, decreased emission, pollution, and a decrease in work travel petrol consumption (Cerqueira et al., 2020; Hopkins and McKay, 2018; Corpuz, 2014; Van Lier et al., 2014). Although there has been found positive environmental effects, we cannot neglect the fact that environmental benefits can be limited (Hopkins and McKay, 2018).

4.2 Weaknesses

Although the way of working from home offices has been here for a long while there have been identified many weaknesses that needed further development, but due to the pandemic and its effects on company costs, the development ideas could not be explored further. The weaknesses that WFH has are mental health issues, health risks, and an increment in energy & electricity use.

The pandemic had the whole world lockdown and therefore companies had to optimize cost reduction efforts. Although businesses implemented remote working, many companies did not practice remote working before the forced implementation which is why there was not a digital infrastructure that promotes remote working at an optimal level. If WFH were to be implemented post-Covid there are a lot of development and training to be done to enhance WFH opportunities (BW Online Bureau, 2020).

Although mental health issues were not listed in the SWOT analysis table, mental health issues have been one of the most significant problems that people have been facing while working remotely at the time of the pandemic. Having the opportunity to work remotely at a post-pandemic time will most likely be different compared to the time of the pandemic because restrictions will most likely be uplifted. This would possibly start a chain reaction. We would possibly see a decrease in mental health issues because people would start to get together once again, and one of the clear signs of this assumption is that people have already started to travel more as the amount of fully

vaccinated people have increased. This is a clear indicator that people are slowly transitioning to life like in the pre-pandemic time (Berstein, 2020; Geoff Whitmore, 2021). Moreover, referring to the literature; the mental health issues were connected to the effects of the restrictions and pandemic, and not the WFH experimentation (Brooks et al., 2020; Song et al., 2020). Nevertheless, companies should invest in tackling mental health issues regardless it being minor or major issues. There is still a risk of workforce segregation and social isolation due to changing to working from home completely at a post-pandemic time (Charlampous et al., 2019).

WFH has brought the issues of employees working while being sick. It was also found that the intense use of information and communication technology has brought many health risks such as anxiety, absenteeism, stress, fatigue, burnout, eyestrain, and headaches. and there have been found negative effects in performance as well (, 2020).

Although the WFH is a cost reduction opportunity for the employer there is still a risk that while employers get the benefits of decreasing energy and electricity costs in their offices, it might increase employees' energy & electricity bills.

Reflecting previous literature, Zoom bombing was also mentioned as one of the disadvantages of WFH because when an individual is working remotely, every possible office chat e.g. coffee break chat, will transform into many different zoom calls. This is one of the things that is much easier to do while working in an office setting Weil and Murugesan (2020). Moreover, a video conference call such as Zoom would be a man-in-the-middle attack risk where somebody listens to private discussions (Okereafor & Manny, 2020).

4.3 Opportunities

Remote working also allows companies to take the next step in reducing emissions and acknowledging that they had an indirect impact, like an invisible hand in the production of their workforces' emissions. Before the massive experiment of remote work company's

employees were not allowed to work remotely (other than people in ICT) and had to commute to get to work so they could earn their living. Therefore, it is an opportunity for companies to be as sustainable as possible and encourage their employees to work remotely so they could reduce the emissions that would be produced from the work commutation (Cerqueira et al., 2020; Ghisetti, Marzucchi & Montresor, 2015 van Lier et al., 2014).

This would also lead to technological innovation. As previously mentioned, implementing WFH as a permanent way of working would instigate the development of a more efficient and promoting digital infrastructure for WFH (Beske et al. 2017; Osborn et al. 2016; Ward and Beyer 2014). This would also create an opportunity for innovation to bring changes that are far from what we can understand in our current time situation.

Ahmad (2020) predicted that cybercrimes such as phishing and ransomware attacks, insecure remote access to corporate networks, remote workers exposing login credentials, and confidential information being exposed to other people in remote workers' homes would increase. This is a significant risk but also could be considered as an opportunity. Companies could now focus on making remote work more secure by investing in better VPNs, cloud services and fusing them into the company's digital space by making the foundation of the digital infrastructure significantly stronger. In addition to that company should implement mandatory cyber security training and user education periodically. With user education companies could mitigate the cyber security risks WFH could have (BW Online Bureau, 2020; Dwivedi et al. 2020; King and Gallagher, 2020; Malecki, 2020; Papagiannidis et al., 2020). Companies could buy and utilize Google's innovation that eschews perimeter-based security instead of having a VPN (Beske et al. 2017; Osborn et al. 2016; Ward and Beyer 2014).

With WFH we can also see significant positive changes in the company's diversity and inclusion. Through the permanent implementation of WFH people that are going through critical periods, people that are physically disabled, people that are recovering from an accident, women during their pregnancy can be included without any limitations. It would increase workplace inclusion because even people with young children or even new-borns can flexibly match work with their life (Baruch, 2000; Illegems, Verbeke and S'Jegers, 2001).

4.4 Threats

Although there were found many positive impacts in productivity due to the WFH, we still cannot ignore the risks it may cause. WFH gives the independence but also responsibility for the employee to manage their own time to make their hours count. This means that it is also an opportunity to 'slack around' so to say which would decrease the productivity from the level it would have been in the office environment. There could also be distractions at the home office which could also affect productivity in a negative way (Eurofound, 2020).

4.5 Cyber security

One of the most significant threats to remote working is cyber security risks. As we shifted from our traditional way of working to the WFH, cyber security threats such as phishing have increased by 600 percent increment. Although VPNs have been implemented and it has brought safety for many companies and their employees, there is a lot of work to do for mitigating cyber security risks and increasing protection from cyber-attacks. As it was stated previously this creates an opportunity for educating on how to safely work remotely and especially on how an individual can protect a company from threats (Lallie et al., 2020; VMware Carbon Black, 2020).

The freedom to work remotely has its advantages but there are still many indirect risks such as workplace segregation. People could avoid people and integrate into the company would take much more effort compared to when working in an office. In a worst-case scenario, this could lead to unintended discrimination because biased people can avoid the people they had to interact with and it could increase the company's human resource retention numbers.

On one hand, there are many benefits that the WFH experimentation brings to individuals' work-life balance but there are negative effects such as increased workload as well. The autonomy of an individual could lead to an increment of work due to self-management or mechanisms enforcing performance which could affect in a negatively on individual's work-life balance (Eurofond, 2020; Song et al., 2020).

When it comes to BYOD (Bring Your Own Device), it is a great way for companies to minimize their costs, but it also brings much more risks. When an individual brings their own device, it can increase the risk of an insider threat and therefore make managing the risk or having safe countermeasure very much left as a responsibility for the individual. Moreover, in this case, company data can be stolen more easily and it can be detrimental for the company. Therefore, it's much better and safer for companies to invest in their utilities by buying the devices for their staff and this way minimizes the risks (Okereafor & Manny, 2020).

Internet quality is also one of the prominent weaknesses WFH has. Workers might not have access to a proper internet, and this determines not just the safety of the internet but also affects the quality of work one may have. It could also increase cyber security risks Garrote Sanchez et al. (2020).

5 Result

Based on the previously presented strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats, there are many benefits that employers and employees could explore through utilizing it. Companies could reap out added-value benefits from the opportunities the WFH could bring. The weaknesses which the remote work brings are temporary especially if companies were to invest in the research and development of digital infrastructure for the remote work. By investing in R&D, companies could promote WFH through having better digital infrastructure and hence reduce the weaknesses and risks. There is also an increasing trend of having the opportunity to work remotely due to the WFH experimentation. Because the experimentation was for years it has become the norm and if employers were to change back to expect people to work completely in an office, organizations could lose their competitive edge in attracting any future talent in the market. In addition to that, cyber security threats would exist regardless, even if an individual were to work from the office or home. Therefore, we can safely state that remote work is here to stay.

6 Conclusion

A lot has changed ever since the pandemic. From the experimentation of the WFH, the perception of the world has changed from it being an inconvenience and not preferred to highly enjoyed and wanted form of working. Employers have changed their approach to remote work and in the current time we live in, it is an opportunity that many companies have started to implement as a way of working even though the restrictions have slowly faded away. Reflecting to the findings in the research we have found that there were a significant number of strengths, few weaknesses, many opportunities, and considerable numbers of threats.

All in all, remote work promotes flexibility in a way that regular office work could not. There were opportunities for people to match work with their life and not vice versa, decrease costs, have greater work-life balance, and more independence. It is irrational not to suspect that the demand for these advantages will not increase even in post-pandemic time. Therefore, post-pandemic time could be considered as a new era for work and organization management.

The WFH experiment is still a form of work that needs further research and development so it could be executed and implemented in the best way possible. The limitations faced in the literature review is the limited amount of qualitative data that provides more information on the different aspects of the topic in question. The proven and justified environmental effects with quantitative data were not able to be found which made one of the most important elements of this research appear scarce. This leaves the WFH environmental effects, disadvantages, and advantages with justification for further research. It is one of the most important parts that could add a significant value to the research and change permanently the way we used to work because of global warming. Also having access to gather primary qualitative data through interviews would also create an opportunity to evaluate the Human Resource Management practices even more critically which was not possible during the time this research was compiled because of the restrictions. Having evidence from these and some primary qualitative data from a company that practices only remote work would have been a valuable addition to the research.

The research literature that was found was readable and some of them were valid. Finding good quality literature was tedious and laborious but nevertheless having the opportunity to research a topic that I found fascinating kept my motivation high.

7 References

ACS Publications. (2014). Energy-Related Emissions from Telework. [online] Available at: https://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/es025849p [Accessed 10th of October 2021].

Adams, G.A.; King, L.A.; King, D.W. Relationships of job and family involvement, family social support, and work–family conflict with job and life satisfaction. J. Appl. Psychol. 1996, 81, 411. [online] Available at:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/333727846_Relationships_of_job_and_family_involvement_family_social_support_and_work-

family_conflict_with_job_and_life_satisfaction> [Accessed 28th of August 2021].

Ahmad, T. (2020). Corona Virus (COVID-19) Pandemic and Work from Home: Challenges of Cybercrimes and Cybersecurity. SSRN Electronic Journal. [online] Available at: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3568830 [Accessed 15th of October 2021].

Alon, T., Doepke, M., Rumsey, J., Tertilt, M., (2020). The Impact of COVID-19 on Gender

Equality. University of Bonn and University of Mannheim, Germany.

Available at: https://ideas.repec.org/p/bon/boncrc/crctr224_2020_163.html [Accessed 21st of July 2021].

Alos-Simo, L., Verdu-Jover, A.J. and Gomez-Gras, J.M. (2020). Does activity sector matter for the relationship between eco-innovation and performance? Implications for cleaner production. Journal of Cleaner Production, [online] 263, p.121544. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652620315912?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652620315912?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652620315912?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652620315912?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652620315912?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652620315912?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652620315912?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652620315912?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652620315912?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652620315912?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652620315912?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652620315912?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652620315912?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652620315912?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652620315912?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652620315912?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652620315912?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652620315912?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652620315912?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652620315912?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652620315912?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652620315912?casa_token="https://www.scienced

Awan, M.S.K., Burnap, P. and Rana, O. (2016). Identifying cyber risk hotspots: A framework for measuring temporal variance in computer network risk. Computers & Security, [online] 57, pp.31–46. <Available at:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0167404815001674> [Accessed 15th of October 2021].

Baldasano, J.M. (2020). COVID-19 lockdown effects on air quality by NO2 in the cities of Barcelona and Madrid (Spain). Science of The Total Environment, [online] 741, p.140353. Available at:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048969720338754 [Accessed 10th of October 2021].

Barclay Osborn, McWilliams, J., Beyer, B. and Saltonstall, M. (2016). BeyondCorp: Design to Deployment at Google. [online] Google Research. Available at: https://research.google/pubs/pub44860/> [Accessed 17th of October 2021].

Baruch, Y. Teleworking: Benefits and pitfalls as perceived by professionals and managers. New Technol. Work. Employ. 2000, 15, 34–49. Available at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/227722800_Teleworking_Benefits_and_Pitfalls_as_Perceived_By_Professionals [Accessed 22nd of September 2021].

Baruch, Y. The status of research on teleworking and an agenda for future research. Int. J. Manag. Rev. 2001, 3, 113–129. Available at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/229780420_The_Status_of_Research_on_Teleworking_and_An_Agenda_for_Future_Research [Accessed 22nd of September 2021].

Beaunoyer, E., Dupéré, S. and Guitton, M.J. (2020). COVID-19 and digital inequalities: Reciprocal impacts and mitigation strategies. Computers in Human Behavior, [online] 111, p.106424. Available at:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0747563220301771?casa_token="v9">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0747563220301771?casa_token="v9">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0747563220301771?casa_token="v9">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0747563220301771?casa_token="v9">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0747563220301771?casa_token="v9">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0747563220301771?casa_token="v9">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0747563220301771?casa_token="v9">https://www.sciencedirect.com/sci

3coE4KPEAAAAA:59NssZ4QwmwB5CfFeWpIoBNxQHtX3g_Zd_Wa3AR39QTJjd3pED2w2 TRJXIMcfCuIiqkcuzD9aQ> [Accessed 12th of October 2021].

Belzunegui-Eraso, A. and Erro-Garcés, A. (2020). Teleworking in the Context of the Covid-19 Crisis. Sustainability, [online] 12(9), p.3662. Available at: https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/12/9/3662/htm [Accessed 23rd of August 2021].

Beske, Colin McCormick, Jeff Peck, and Max Saltonstall, (2017), 'Migrating to BeyondCorp: maintaining productivity while improving security', [online] Available at: [Accessed 17th of October 2021].

Bigliardi, B.; Bertolini, M.; Doran, J.; Ryan, G. Regulation and firm perception, ecoinnovation and firm performance. Eur. J. Innov. Manag. 2012, 15, 421–441. Available at:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/263445003_Regulation_and_firm_perception on eco-

innovation_and_firm_performance?_iepl%5BgeneralViewId%5D=G64wq5JI95UC73hCp L1slfGRrSRGAlNrauxX&_iepl%5Bcontexts%5D%5B0%5D=searchReact&_iepl%5BviewI d%5D=tfkn78sFYW1muAUqXDI678Zr2GfN31jzMLAn&_iepl%5BsearchType%5D=public ation&_iepl%5Bdata%5D%5BcountLessEqual20%5D=1&_iepl%5Bdata%5D%5Bintera ctedWithPosition1%5D=1&_iepl%5Bdata%5D%5BwithoutEnrichment%5D=1&_iepl%5Bposition%5D=1&_iepl%5BrgKey%5D=PB%3A263445003&_iepl%5BtargetEntityId%5D=PB%3A263445003&_iepl%5BinteractionType%5D=publicationTitle> [Accessed 22nd of September 2021].

Bloom, N., Liang, J., Roberts, J. and Ying, Z.J. (2014). Does Working from Home Work? Evidence from a Chinese Experiment. The Quarterly Journal of Economics, [online] 130(1), pp.165–218. Available at: https://nbloom.people.stanford.edu/sites/g/files/sbiybj4746/f/wfh.pdf [Accessed 11th of August 2021].

Borkovich & Skoriva (2020). Working from home: Cybersecurity in the age of COVID-19. Issues in Information Systems, [online] Available at:http://www.iacis.org/iis/2020/4_iis_2020_234-246.pdf [Accessed 2nd of September 2021].

Brodie Boland, Aaron De Smet, Palter, R. and Aditya Sanghvi (2020). Reimagining the office and work life after COVID-19. [online] McKinsey & Company. Available at: https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/organization/our-insights/reimagining-the-office-and-work-life-after-covid-19">https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/organization/our-insights/reimagining-the-office-and-work-life-after-covid-19 [Accessed 11th of August 2021].

Brooks, S.K., Webster, R.K., Smith, L.E., Woodland, L., Wessely, S., Greenberg, N. and Rubin, G.J. (2020). The psychological impact of quarantine and how to reduce it: rapid review of the evidence. The Lancet, [online] 395(10227), pp.912–920. Available at: https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(20)30460-8/fulltext [Accessed 28th of August 2021].

Bryman, A. and Bell, E., 2007. Business Research Methods, 5th ed. Oxford. [online] Available at:

https://books.google.fi/books?hl=en&lr=&id=J9J2DwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PP1&dq="bryman,+A.+and+Bell,+E.,+2007.+Business+Research+Methods+,+2nd+ed.+Oxford">https://books.google.fi/books?hl=en&lr=&id=J9J2DwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PP1&dq="bryman,+A.+and+Bell,+E.,+2007.+Business+Research+Methods+,+2nd+ed.+Oxford">https://books.google.fi/books?hl=en&lr=&id=J9J2DwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PP1&dq="bryman,+A.+and+Bell,+E.,+2007.+Business+Research+Methods+,+2nd+ed.+Oxford">https://books.google.fi/books?hl=en&lr=&id=J9J2DwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PP1&dq="bryman,+A.+and+Bell,+E.,+2007.+Business+Research+Methods+,+2nd+ed.+Oxford">https://books.google.fi/books?hl=en&lr=&id=J9J2DwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PP1&dq="bryman,+A.+and+Bell,+E.,+2007.+Business+Research+Methods+,+2nd+ed.+Oxford">https://books.google.fi

gTs4ew0moVTSnkK6v7jnOk&redir_esc=y#v=onepage&q=Bryman%2C%20A.%20and %20Bell%2C%20E.%2C%202007.%20Business%20Research%20Methods%20%2C% 202nd%20ed.%20Oxford%3A%20Oxford%20University%20Press.&f=false> [Accessed 17 Oct. 2021].

BW Online Bureau. (2020, July 22). Lenovo Research: 74% Of Indians Prefer To Work From Home Post COVID-19. Business World. Available at: http://www.businessworld.in/article/Lenovo-Research-74-Of-Indians-Prefer-To-Work-

From-Home-Post-COVID-19/22-07-2020-300212/> [Accessed 25th of July 2021].

Cerqueira, E.D.V., Motte-Baumvol, B., Chevallier, L.B. and Bonin, O. (2020). Does working from home reduce CO2 emissions? An analysis of travel patterns as dictated by workplaces. Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, [online] 83, p.102338. Available at:

<a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1361920919314026?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1361920919314026?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1361920919314026?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1361920919314026?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1361920919314026?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1361920919314026?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/sciencedirect.c

vSXKjTxjtGQAAAAA:MdshCl8b3g0GK1kyTT_YenEPgA11lDuq5u1f-Vq8VGTr3cmOK4xZnbh6NIEsxVLh9utvCE1FJg> [Accessed 28 Sep. 2021].

Chapman, P. (2020). Are your IT staff ready for the pandemic-driven insider threat? Network Security, [online] 2020(4), pp.8–11. Available at:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1353485820300428?casa_token="kK-pg9qJRqQAAAAA:rU7OGhyJ4XRPTn9005T5p-">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1353485820300428?casa_token="kK-pg9qJRqQAAAAA:rU7OGhyJ4XRPTn9005T5p-">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1353485820300428?casa_token="kK-pg9qJRqQAAAAA:rU7OGhyJ4XRPTn9005T5p-">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1353485820300428?casa_token="kK-pg9qJRqQAAAAA:rU7OGhyJ4XRPTn9005T5p-">https://www.sciencedirect.com/sciencedirect.co

CMnVXRozKhr43XJr2CR6lnjIzGyBND7omtNyLwpJxOjHtPuNjZ9Q> [Accessed 15th of October 2021].

Corpuz, G., 2014. An Empirical Assessment of Teleworking Using the Sydney Household Travel Survey Data, 34th Australasian Transport Research Forum, ATRF 2011. Australasian Transport Research [online] Available at: https://scholar.google.com/scholar_lookup?title=An%20Empirical%20Assessment%2 0of%20Teleworking%20Using%20the%20Sydney%20Household%20Travel%20Survey%20Data%2C%2034th%20Australasian%20Transport%20Research%20Forum%2C%20ATRF%202011&author=G.%20Corpuz&publication_year=2014> [Accessed 28 Sep. 2021].

Curran, K. (2020). Cyber security and the remote workforce. Computer Fraud & Security, [online] 2020(6), pp.11–12. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1361372320300634?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1361372320300634?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1361372320300634?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1361372320300634?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/sciencedir

h9ZX8tFZ82sAAAAA:Y1_vIFCj6iU8q2CWJpEpxr6zBG9Y9BPBWAvhU54wA7AZxF8nq_Bwe GWvzU1KTZCik78PKodt> [Accessed 2nd of September 2021].

Dente, S.M.R. and Hashimoto, S. (2020). COVID-19: A pandemic with positive and negative outcomes on resource and waste flows and stocks. Resources, Conservation and Recycling, [online] 161, p.104979. Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7264017/ [Accessed 12th of

October 2021].

Dima, A.-M., Ţuclea, C.-E., Vrânceanu, D.-M. and Ţigu, G. (2019). Sustainable Social and Individual Implications of Telework: A New Insight into the Romanian Labor Market. Sustainability, [online] 11(13), p.3506. Available at:

https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/11/13/3506/htm [Accessed 10th of September 2021].

Dingel, J., Neiman, J., (2020). How Many Jobs Can be Done at Home? National Bureau of

16. Economic Research, Inc. Retrieved from https://ideas.repec.org/p/nbr/nberwo/26948.html [Accessed 11th of August 2021].

Dubey, A., Tripathi, S., (2020), Analysing the Sentiments towards Work-From-Home 18. Experience during COVID-19 Pandemic, Journal of Innovation Management, 8 (1), 19. 13-19. DOI: Available at: https://journalsojs3.fe.up.pt/index.php/jim/article/view/2183-0606_008.001_0003 [Accessed 25th of July 2021].

Dwivedi, Y.K., Hughes, D.L., Coombs, C., Constantiou, I., Duan, Y., Edwards, J.S., Gupta, B., Lal, B., Misra, S., Prashant, P., Raman, R., Rana, N.P., Sharma, S.K. and Upadhyay, N. (2020). Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on information management research and practice: Transforming education, work and life. International Journal of Information Management, [online] 55, p.102211. Available at: [Accessed 17th of October 2021].

Eiadat, Y., Kelly, A., Roche, F. and Eyadat, H. (2008). Green and competitive? An empirical test of the mediating role of environmental innovation strategy. Journal of World Business, [online] 43(2), pp.131–145. Available at:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1090951607000892?casa_token=uDEtcinJe7sAAAAA:FP_80_X49E5voZKDmVJArp1l7UNfFpzBSBEKlpQMlVy-WoBnRWDnRDPmOu2IQcHgPu6YsWdPBQ [Accessed 22nd of September 2021].

Elldér, E. (2020). Telework and daily travel: New evidence from Sweden. Journal of Transport Geography, [online] 86, p.102777. Available at:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0966692319311305 [Accessed 12th of October 2021].

Eurofound. (2020). *Living, working and COVID-19*. [online] Available at: https://www.eurofound.europa.eu/publications/report/2020/living-working-and-covid-19 [Accessed 12th of October 2021].

EYBelgium, (2020, April 8). Why remote working will bethe new normal, even after COVID-Available at: https://www.ey.com/en_be/covid-19/why-remote-working-will-be-the-new-normal-even-after-covid-19 [Accessed 6th of August 2021].

Fonner, K. L., Roloff, M. E., 2010. Why Teleworkers are More Satisfied with Their Jobs than are Office-Based Workers: When less Contact is Beneficial. Journal of Applied Communication Research, 38(4), 336-361.. Available at:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/232986211_Why_Teleworkers_Are_More_Satisfied_with_Their_Jobs_Than_Are_Office-

Based_Workers_When_Less_Contact_Is_Beneficial> [Accessed 15th of August 2021].

Frazier, L. (2021). The Coronavirus Crash Of 2020, And The Investing Lesson It Taught Us. *Forbes*. [online] 28 Jun. Available at:

https://www.forbes.com/sites/lizfrazierpeck/2021/02/11/the-coronavirus-crash-of-2020-and-the-investing-lesson-it-taught-us/ [Accessed 15th of August 2021].

Gálvez, A., Tirado, F. and Martínez, M.J. (2020). Work–Life Balance, Organizations and Social Sustainability: Analyzing Female Telework in Spain. Sustainability, [online] 12(9), p.3567. Available at: https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/12/9/3567/htm [Accessed 28th of August 2021].

Garrote Sanchez, D., Gomez Parra, N., Ozden, C., Rijkers, B., Viollaz, M. and Winkler, H. (2020). Who on Earth can Work from Home? [online] World Bank, Washington, DC. Available at: https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/34277 [Accessed 15th of October 2021].

Gartner. (2020). Shifting Some Employees to Remote Work Permanently | Gartner. [online] Available at: https://www.gartner.com/en/newsroom/press-releases/2020-04-03-gartner-cfo-surey-reveals-74-percent-of-organizations-to-shift-some-employees-to-remote-work-permanently2 [Accessed 21st of July. 2021].

Gartner. (2020). Gartner Survey Shows CFOs Will Make More Cost Cuts in 2020. [online] Available at: https://www.gartner.com/en/newsroom/press-releases/2020-06-15-gartner-survey-shows-cfos-will-make-more-cost-cuts-in-2020 [Accessed 21st of July. 2021].

Geoff Whitmore (2021). Travel Is Increasing As People Become Fully Vaccinated. Here's What To Look Out For. Forbes. [online] 7 Apr. Available at: https://www.forbes.com/sites/geoffwhitmore/2021/04/07/travel-is-increasing-as-people-become-fully-vaccinated-heres-what-to-look-out-for/ [Accessed 19th October 2021].

Ghisetti, C., Marzucchi, A. and Montresor, S. (2015). The open eco-innovation mode. An empirical investigation of eleven European countries. Research Policy, [online] 44(5), pp.1080–1093. Available at:

<a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733314002194?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733314002194?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733314002194?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733314002194?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733314002194?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733314002194?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733314002194?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733314002194?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733314002194?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733314002194?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733314002194?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733314002194?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733314002194?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733314002194?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733314002194?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733314002194?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733314002194?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733314002194?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733314002194?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733314002194?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733314002194?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733314002194?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733314002194?casa_t

2021].

Golden, T.D. (2006). Avoiding depletion in virtual work: Telework and the intervening impact of work exhaustion on commitment and turnover intentions. Journal of Vocational Behavior, [online] 69(1), pp.176–187. Available at: [Accessed 28th of August 2021].

Gottlieb, C., Grobovšek, J., Poschke, M. and Saltiel, F. (2021). Working from Home in Developing Countries. European Economic Review, p.103679. Available at:

https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Working-from-home-in-developing-countries-Gottlieb-Grobov%C5%A1ek/ae6c345c1e726b2684885b67747a227b50e9e16d [Accessed 11th of August 2021].

Guerin, T.F. (2021). Policies to minimise environmental and rebound effects from telework: A study for Australia. Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, [online] 39, pp.18–33. Available at:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2210422421000034?casa_token="w4fDYpDpzC8AAAAA:Y9HDIenqYQ-tMkkrhxw6IIgdGi7VeEON4IkH3DxVcLl1GC01ciDiS-tNr0UaaHV5mhr0Spr-zA">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2210422421000034?casa_token="w4fDYpDpzC8AAAAA:Y9HDIenqYQ-tMkkrhxw6IIgdGi7VeEON4IkH3DxVcLl1GC01ciDiS-tNr0UaaHV5mhr0Spr-zA">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2210422421000034?casa_token="w4fDYpDpzC8AAAAA:Y9HDIenqYQ-tMkkrhxw6IIgdGi7VeEON4IkH3DxVcLl1GC01ciDiS-tNr0UaaHV5mhr0Spr-zA">https://www.sciencedirect.com/s

Harvard Business Review. (2020). The Implications of Working Without an Office. [online] Available at: https://hbr.org/2020/07/the-implications-of-working-without-an-office?> [Accessed 15th of August 2021].

Hern, A., (2020). Covid_19 could cause permanent shift towards home working. The Guardian. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2020/mar/13/covid-19-could-cause-permanent-shift-towards-home-working [Accessed 25th of July 2021].

Heyward, C. (2020). Council Post: The Growing Importance Of Social Responsibility In Business. Forbes. [online] 17 Nov. Available at:

https://www.forbes.com/sites/forbesbusinesscouncil/2020/11/18/the-growing-importance-of-social-responsibility-in-business/ [Accessed 23rd of September 2021].

Hopkins, J.L. and McKay, J. (2019). Investigating "anywhere working" as a mechanism for alleviating traffic congestion in smart cities. Technological Forecasting and Social Change, [online] 142, pp.258–272. Available at:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0040162518301549?casa_token=
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0040162518301549?casa_token=
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0040162518301549?casa_token=
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0040162518301549?casa_token=

uyDtnXA9IqHJkHl7gwebEnoQDRKMBQR1Bf860fyOAa7A> [Accessed 10th of October 2021].

Hynes, M. (2016). Developing (tele)work? A multi-level sociotechnical perspective of telework in Ireland. Research in Transportation Economics, [online] 57, pp.21–31. Available at:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0739885915301311?casa_token=yDqvxVJYuIYAAAAA:ZnoOivmz2lmi7MT6cMKykdH-2-

ABuQsVU8e2adzNkhf785cKCJeJeU8TdVhw2iqgsSuoPrYuCg> [Accessed 10th of October 2021].

Illegems, V., Verbeke, A. and S'Jegers, R. (2001). The organizational context of teleworking implementation. Technological Forecasting and Social Change, [online] 68(3), pp.275–291. Available at:

<a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0040162500001050?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0040162500001050?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0040162500001050?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0040162500001050?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0040162500001050?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0040162500001050?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0040162500001050?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0040162500001050?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0040162500001050?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0040162500001050?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/s

International Planning Studies. (2015). Teleworking as a Mobility Strategy for Mexico City. [online] Available at:

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/13563475.2014.942506?casa_token="uSj2K30EMe8AAAAA%3AutEZs9Z8viIvzfyLSsUM9MK8GZn3pV35SpapSK4VTrSEBNHKDqd4cciysT3nW8Q5Yfpu97tpxYBB">https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/13563475.2014.942506?casa_token="uSj2K30EMe8AAAAA%3AutEZs9Z8viIvzfyLSsUM9MK8GZn3pV35SpapSK4VTrSEBNHKDqd4cciysT3nW8Q5Yfpu97tpxYBB">https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/13563475.2014.942506?casa_token="uSj2K30EMe8AAAAA%3AutEZs9Z8viIvzfyLSsUM9MK8GZn3pV35SpapSK4VTrSEBNHKDqd4cciysT3nW8Q5Yfpu97tpxYBB">https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/13563475.2014.942506?casa_token="uSj2K30EMe8AAAAA%3AutEZs9Z8viIvzfyLSsUM9MK8GZn3pV35SpapSK4VTrSEBNHKDqd4cciysT3nW8Q5Yfpu97tpxYBB">https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/13563475.2014.942506?casa_token="uSj2K3VTrSEBNHKDqd4cciysT3nW8Q5Yfpu97tpxYBB">https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/13563475.2014.942506?casa_token="uSj2K3VTrSEBNHKDqd4cciysT3nW8Q5Yfpu97tpxYBB">https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/13563475.2014.942506?casa_token="uSj2K3VTrSEBNHKDqd4cciysT3nW8Q5Yfpu97tpxYBB">https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/13563475.2014.942506?casa_token="uSj2K3VTrSEBNHKDqd4cciysT3nW8Q5Yfpu97tpxYBB">https://www.usj2K3VTrSEBNHKDqdacciysT3nW8Q5Yfpu97tpxYBB

Jang-Jaccard, J. and Nepal, S. (2014). A survey of emerging threats in cybersecurity. Journal of Computer and System Sciences, [online] 80(5), pp.973–993. Available at: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0022000014000178 [Accessed 17th of October 2021].

Jay, R. (2020). How Flexible Work Can Lead to More Time with Family. [online] FlexJobs Job Search Tips and Blog. Available at:

https://www.flexjobs.com/blog/post/how-flexible-work-can-lead-to-more-time-with-family/ [Accessed 19th October 2021].

Jones, R., Collier, B., Horgan, S. and Lynsay Shepherd (2020). The implications of the COVID-19 pandemic for cybercrime policing in Scotland: A rapid review of the evidence and future considerations. [online] University of Edinburgh Research Explorer.

Available at: https://www.research.ed.ac.uk/en/publications/the-implications-of-the-covid-19-pandemic-for-cybercrime-policing [Accessed 17th of October 2021].

Journal of Applied Communication Research. (2021). Why Teleworkers are More Satisfied with Their Jobs than are Office-Based Workers: When Less Contact is Beneficial. [online] Available at:

<a href="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00909882.2010.513998?casa_token="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00909882.2010.513998?casa_token="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00909882.2010.513998?casa_token="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00909882.2010.513998?casa_token="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00909882.2010.513998?casa_token="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00909882.2010.513998?casa_token="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00909882.2010.513998?casa_token="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00909882.2010.513998?casa_token="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00909882.2010.513998?casa_token="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00909882.2010.513998?casa_token="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00909882.2010.513998?casa_token="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00909882.2010.513998?casa_token="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00909882.2010.513998?casa_token="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00909882.2010.513998?casa_token="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00909882.2010.513998?casa_token="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00909882.2010.513998?casa_token="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00909882.2010.513998?casa_token="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00909882.2010.513998?casa_token="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00909882.2010.513998?casa_token="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00909882.2010.513998?casa_token="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00909882.2010.513998?casa_token="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00909882.2010.513998?casa_token="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00909882.2010.513998.713998.713998.71399.7

JOURNAL OF MANAGEMENT STUDIES AND ACADEMIC RESEARCH A Big Salute to CORONA WARRIORS. (2021). [online] . Available at: https://sdmcbm.ac.in/wpcontent/uploads/2021/02/Journal-Book-Final-For-Website.pdf#page=11> [Accessed 28th of August 2021].

Kaushik & Guleria (2020). The impact of Pandemic COVID-19 in Workplace. [online] Available at: <chrome-extension://oemmndcbldboiebfnladdacbdfmadadm/https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Meenakshi-Kaushik-3/publication/342011150_The_Impact_of_Pandemic_COVID_-19_in_Workplace/links/5ede65e892851cf13869888b/The-Impact-of-Pandemic-COVID-19-in-Workplace.pdf> [Accessed 21st of July 2021].

Kazekami, S. (2020). Mechanisms to improve labor productivity by performing telework. Telecommunications Policy, [online] 44(2), p.101868. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0308596119301120?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0308596119301120?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0308596119301120?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0308596119301120?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0308596119301120?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0308596119301120?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0308596119301120?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0308596119301120?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0308596119301120?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0308596119301120?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/sciencedir

P6oDIBLoGg3DW7C3rYBHw1ROCc34600cyCI6RFfj3uCZTOx7yyyTza2586MJjCrOm6jdyA > [Accessed 12th of October 2021].

King, Angus, and Representative Mike Gallagher, (2020), 'Cybersecurity Lessons from the Pandemic', Cyberspace Solarium Commission White Paper #1: https://www.solarium.gov/public-communications/pandemic-white-paper [Accessed 17th of October 2021].

Kitou, E. and Horvath, A. (2003). Energy-Related Emissions from Telework. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 37(16), pp.3467–3475. [Accessed 6th of August 2021].

Kniffin, K. M., Narayanan, J., Anseel, F., Antonakis, J., Ashford, S. P., Bakker, A. B., . . . Vugt, M. V. (2021). COVID-19 and the workplace: Implications, issues, and insights For future research and action. American Psychologist, 76(1), 63-77. Available at: https://doi.apa.org/fulltext/2020-58612-001.html [Accessed 6th of August 2021].

Lallie, Harjinder Singh, Lynsay A. Shepherd, Jason RC Nurse, Arnau Erola, GregoryEpiphaniou, Carsten Maple, and Xavier Bellekens, (2020), 'Cybersecurity in the age of covid-19: A timeline and analysis of cyber-crime and cyber-attacks during the

pandemic.' arXiv e-prints, [online] p.arXiv:2006.11929. Available at: https://ui.adsabs.harvard.edu/abs/2020arXiv200611929S/abstract [Accessed 15th of October 2021].

Lister, K., (2020). Work-At-Home After Covid-19—Our Forecast. Global Workplace Analytics (GWA). Available at: https://globalworkplaceanalytics.com/work-at-home-after-covid-19-our-forecast [Accessed 6th of August 2021].

Lundgren, K. and Kjellstrom, T. (2013). Sustainability Challenges from Climate Change and Air Conditioning Use in Urban Areas. Sustainability, [online] 5(7), pp.3116–3128. Available at: https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/5/7/3116/htm [Accessed 24th of June 2021].

Magsamen-Conrad, K. and Dillon, J.M. (2020). Mobile technology adoption across the lifespan: A mixed methods investigation to clarify adoption stages, and the influence of diffusion attributes. Computers in Human Behavior, [online] 112, p.106456. Available at:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0747563220302089?casa_token="uqCuGJ4zzOsAAAAA:oP6IXDeOkFWVET4-">uqCuGJ4zzOsAAAAA:oP6IXDeOkFWVET4-

3i92szcExxcTBlEDJC_H5O879yVacl3yc5JrXIEnN53ThE3MxOUihmTXrQ> [Accessed 12th of October 2021].

Malecki, F. (2020). Overcoming the security risks of remote working. Computer Fraud & Security, [online] 2020(7), pp.10–12. Available at:

<a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1361372320300749?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1361372320300749?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1361372320300749?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1361372320300749?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1361372320300749?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1361372320300749?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1361372320300749?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1361372320300749?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1361372320300749?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1361372320300749?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/s

Mekonnen, M., Pahlow, M., Aldaya, M., Zarate, E. and Hoekstra, A. (2015). Sustainability, Efficiency and Equitability of Water Consumption and Pollution in Latin America and the Caribbean. Sustainability, [online] 7(2), pp.2086–2112. Available at: https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/7/2/2086/htm [Accessed 28th of August 2021].

Missimer, M., Robèrt, K.-H. and Broman, G. (2017). A strategic approach to social sustainability – Part 1: exploring the social system. Journal of Cleaner Production, [online] 140, pp.32–41. Available at:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652616302645?casa_token=4ZNrlKQt6-

wAAAAA:KJb6_oHx1pS_6_iHUccv1NIkCbew9GQkl2pMyTAlY5lJcAOb8atOzkncUe5SWJIX tU2dqMRAEw> [Accessed 28th of August 2021].

Ms. Dhrupa Bhatia, Prof. Anjali Mote (2021). Work from Home (WFH): The New Normal? International Journal of Future Generation Communication and Networking, [online] 14(1), pp.1905–19161905–1916. Available at:

http://www.sersc.org/journals/index.php/IJFGCN/article/view/36405 [Accessed 21st of July 2021].

Mufid, A. (2020). Impact of Work From Home (WFH) on Indonesian Teachers Performance During the Covid-19 Pandemic: An Exploratory Study. International Journal of Advanced Science and Technology, [online] 29(05), pp.6235–6244. Available at: http://sersc.org/journals/index.php/IJAST/article/view/15627 [Accessed 5 Sep. 2021].

Nicol, David M. (2020), 'In the Petri Dish: Cybersecurity Pushed to the Edge', IEEE Computer Architecture Letters 18, no. 03: 4-5. Available at:

https://www.computer.org/csdl/magazine/sp/2020/03/09091361/1jK9S09bWIU">https://www.computer.org/csdl/magazine/sp/2020/03/09091361/1jK9S09bWIU [Accessed 15th of October 2021].

O'Brien, W. and Yazdani Aliabadi, F. (2020). Does telecommuting save energy? A critical review of quantitative studies and their research methods. Energy and Buildings, [online] 225, p.110298. Available at:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378778820317710?casa_token="tebvjHQfB50AAAAA:SYG10aOmXKn96mOoUKydwdLoBzZJmICxTCPQy7RaoJjpwWO61DXM0rGOsvMFI7PseJ2muxBlzw [Accessed 12th of October 2021].

Okereafor, K. & Manny, P. (2020) Understanding cybersecurity challenges of telecommuting and video conferencing applications in the COVID-19 pandemic. Academia, [online] Available at:

https://www.academia.edu/download/63860497/Understanding_Cybersecurity_Challe nges_of_Telecommuting_and_Video_Conferencing_in_the_COVID-19 Pandemic20200707-2473-140thr6.pdf> [Accessed 15th of October 2021].

Papagiannidis, S., Harris, J. and Morton, D. (2020). WHO led the digital transformation of your company? A reflection of IT related challenges during the pandemic. International Journal of Information Management, [online] 55, p.102166. Available at: [Accessed 17th of October 2021].

Parungao, A., (2020, August 14). The future of remote work after COVID-19: 3 common predictions. Amity. Available at: https://www.ekoapp.com/blog/the-future-of-remote-work-after-covid-19-3-common-predictions> [Accessed 6th of August 2021

Rietveld, P. (2011). Telework and the transition to lower energy use in transport: On the relevance of rebound effects. Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, [online] 1(1), pp.146–151. Available at:

<a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2210422411000086?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2210422411000086?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2210422411000086?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2210422411000086?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2210422411000086?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2210422411000086?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2210422411000086?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2210422411000086?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2210422411000086?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2210422411000086?casa_token="https://www.sciencedirect.com/s

Santos-Vijande, M.L. and Álvarez-González, L.I. (2007). Innovativeness and organizational innovation in total quality oriented firms: The moderating role of market turbulence. Technovation, [online] 27(9), pp.514–532. Available at: "[Accessed 16th of September 2021].

Song, L., Wang, Y., Li, Z., Yang, Y. and Li, H. (2020). Mental Health and Work Attitudes among People Resuming Work during the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Cross-Sectional Study in China. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, [online] 17(14), p.5059. Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7400483 [Accessed 28th of August 2021].

Stone, C., Horan, S. and Flaxman, P. (2018). What does the future hold? Investigating the benefits and challenges of agile and remote working Conference paper. [online] Available at:

https://www.cipd.co.uk/Images/investigating-the-benefits-and-challenges-of-agile-and-remote-working_tcm18-57296.pdf.> [Accessed 28th of August 2021].

Telework in the EU before and after the COVID-19: where we were, where we head to. (n.d.). [online] Available at:

https://ec.europa.eu/jrc/sites/default/files/jrc120945_policy_brief_-covid_and_telework_final.pdf [Accessed 21st of July 2021].

TemplateArchive. (2020). 30 Blank Swot Analysis Templates (Word) - TemplateArchive. [online] Available at: https://templatearchive.com/swot-analysis/ [Accessed 31 Oct. 2021].

Thomas, J. (2019). SWOT IT OUT! Forensic Science International: Synergy, [online] 1, p.S5. Available at:

 [Accessed 19th October 2021].

Tom van Lier, Astrid de Witte and Macharis, C. (2014). How worthwhile is teleworking from a sustainable mobility perspective? The case of Brussels Capital region. European Journal of Transport and Infrastructure Research, [online] 14(3). Available at: https://journals.open.tudelft.nl/ejtir/article/view/3033 [Accessed 10th of October 2021].

Toscano, F. and Zappalà, S. (2020). Social Isolation and Stress as Predictors of Productivity Perception and Remote Work Satisfaction during the COVID-19 Pandemic: The Role of Concern about the Virus in a Moderated Double Mediation. Sustainability, [online] 12(23), p.9804. Available at: https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/12/23/9804/htm [Accessed 10th of September 2021].

Vadakkanmarveettil, J., (2020 May). Will Work From Home be the new normal post COVID-19?. Jigsaw Academy. Available at: https://www.jigsawacademy.com/will-work-from-home-be-the-new-normal-post-covid-19/ [Accessed 25th of July 2021].

Vmware Carbon Black. (2020). [online] 'Global Threat Report' Available at: https://www.vmware.com/content/dam/digitalmarketing/vmware/en/pdf/docs/vmwcb-report-gtr-extended-enterprise-under-threat-global.pdf [Accessed 17th of October 2021].

Zaharia, A., Diaconeasa, M.C., Brad, L., Lădaru, G.-R. and Ioanăș, C. (2019). Factors Influencing Energy Consumption in the Context of Sustainable Development. Sustainability, [online] 11(15), p.4147. Available at: https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/11/15/4147/htm [Accessed 22nd of September 2021].

Ward, Rory, and Betsy Beyer. (2014), 'BeyondCorp: A new approach to enterprise security.' [online] Available at: https://storage.googleapis.com/pub-tools-public-publicationdata/pdf/43231.pdf [Accessed 17th of October 2021].

Weil, T. and Murugesan, S. (2020). IT Risk and Resilience—Cybersecurity Response to COVID-19. IT Professional, [online] 22(3), pp.4–10. Available at: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/abstract/document/9098180 [Accessed 15th of October 2021].

Whiting, K., (2020 August 26). Is flexible working here to stay? We asked 6 companies how to make it work. The World Economic Forum. Available at: https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/08/flexible-remote-working-post-covid19-company-predictions/ [Accessed 6th of August 2021].

Who.int. (2020). Detail. [online] Available at: https://www.who.int/director-general-s-opening-remarks-at-the-media-briefing-on-covid-19---11-march-2020 [Accessed 22nd of September 2021].

Williams, Matthew L., Michael Levi, Pete Burnap, and R. V. Gundur. (2019), 'Under the corporate radar: Examining insider business cybercrime victimization through an application of routine activities theory.' Deviant Behavior, 40, no. 9: 1119-1131. [online] Available at:

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/01639625.2018.1461786 [Accessed 15th of October 2021].

Appendices

SWOT Analysis

STRENGTHS

- Having more time
- More flexibility at home office
- Cost savings for the employer
- Cost savings for the employee
- No travelling to the office needed
- Increase in efficiency
- Better work-life balance
- Improved work satisfaction
- People enjoy it

WEAKNESSES

- Energy & electricity use
 People working while being sick
 Health risks
- "Zoom bombing"
- Internet quality

OPPORTUNITIES

- Cyber safety trainingVPN's

- Decrease in pollution
 Reducing emissions
 Achieving sustainability objectives

THREATS

- Cyber security risks
 Risk of increasing workload
 Increased vulnerability to phishing
 Risks linked to BYOD
 Unsecure Wi-Fi
 Decrease in productivity

(TemplateArchive, 2020)